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Entered on Docket October 11, 2019

Below is the Order of the Court.

‘ fﬁ; M [/ i
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i,

o v 24/ Christopher M. Alston
U.S. Bankruptcy Judge

(Dated as of Entered on Docket date above)

Christopher M. Alston
Bankruptcy Judge

United States Courthouse

700 Stewart Street, Suite 6301
Seattle, WA 98101
206-370-5330

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE

Inre Chapter 11
Northwest Territorial Mint LLC, Case No. 16-11767

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE,
CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L
GATES, AND MILLER NASH GRAHAM &
DUNN

Debtor.

This matter came before the Court on the Final Application for Payment of Fees and
Reimbursement of Expenses of Counsel for the Official Unsecured Creditors' Committee (Dkt.
No. 1894), First Application for Compensation of Cascade Capital Group LLC as Accountants
for the Chapter 11 Trustee (Dkt. No. 1924), Trustee's First Application for Compensation (Dkt.
No. 1926), and K&L Gates LLP Application for Compensation (Dkt. No. 1928) (collectively the

“Applications”). The parties filing the Applications seek compensation for services and
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reimbursement of expenses incurred from the initial date of employment through September 30,
2018. The Court conducted hearings on December 7, 2018, February 1, 2019, and March 13,
2019. After the parties provided supplemental declarations on March 25, the Court took the
matters under advisement.

I. FINDINGS OF FACT

This case has been both eventful and contentious, and therefore the Court does not
summarize every event that occurred in the facts below. Rather, the Court considered the
following events to be significant when evaluating the Applications submitted by the
professionals.

A. Commencement of the Case.

The origins of this bankruptcy case trace back to a bizarre landlord-tenant dispute.
Northwest Territorial Mint, LLC (the “Mint”) leased property in Auburn, Washington, from an
entity affiliated with Bradley Stephen Cohen and Cohen Asset Management Inc. (collectively
“Cohen”). After the Mint vacated the premises, Cohen sued for damages the Mint allegedly
caused by contaminating the property. Dkt. No. 18 at 16. In August 2012, Cohen filed a lawsuit
in federal court in Nevada (the “Cohen Lawsuit”) against the Mint and its principal, Ross
Hansen, alleging the defendants created two websites that falsely portrayed Mr. Cohen as the
“Bernie Madoff of the real estate industry” to gain leverage in the lawsuit over the Auburn
property. ld. at 14. Three and half years later, the jury returned a verdict finding Ross Hansen
and the Mint defamed Cohen and engaged in fraud, oppression, and malice, and awarded
compensatory and punitive damages. On March 1, 2016, the Nevada District Court entered
judgment in favor of Cohen in the amounts of $12,500,000 against the Mint and $25,500,000
against Ross Hansen. 1d. at 9-11.

On April 1, 2016, the Mint commenced a case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code!
to stop Cohen’s collection efforts and give it breathing room to reorganize. Dkt. No. 12 at 3.
Just a week later, Ross Hansen stipulated on behalf of the Mint to the appointment of a chapter
11 trustee. The Office of the United States Trustee (the “UST”) requested that the Court approve
Mark T. Calvert as the trustee. Dkt. No. 48. In his acceptance and declaration, Mr. Calvert
declared that he has acted as a chapter 11 trustee in other cases in this jurisdiction. Id. The

Court entered an order approving Mr. Calvert as the chapter 11 trustee on April 11, 2016. Dkt.

! All references to the Bankruptcy Code mean United States Code, Title 11.
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No. 51. Four days later, the UST formed an unsecured creditors’ committee (the “Committee’)
and appointed seven creditors to it. Dkt. No. 73.
B. The Mint’s Operations and Precarious Financial Position.

The Mint is a Washington limited liability company whose sole member is Ross Hansen.
At the time it filed, the Mint’s business operations included selling precious metals and coins
online and in retail stores, minting and manufacturing commemorative medals, coins, and
ribbons, and buying and selling precious metals including gold, silver, platinum, and palladium
bullion. The Mint maintained its corporate headquarters in Kent, Washington, and operated in
several locations across the country. One of those locations was Dayton, Nevada, where the
Mint operated in a 100,000-plus square-foot facility (the “Dayton Premises”). Dkt. No. 1185 at
2. The Mint conducted most of its bullion business at a leased building in Federal Way,
Washington. Dkt. No. 580 at 3.

Until the appointment of the Trustee, Ross Hansen was the President of the Mint. Diane
Erdmann was the manager of the vault in Federal Way. She and Ross Hansen have been in a
committed relationship since 2000. Dkt. No. 580 at 3.2

At the time of bankruptcy filing, the estate had approximately one thousand dollars and
other limited current assets with which to satisfy its considerable operating expenses. The Mint
had 241 employees, a monthly payroll of approximately $630,000, and monthly employee
benefits of approximately $60,000. The company had accumulated approximately $25.5 million
dollars in unfulfilled customer orders, including approximately $575,000 of orders for which
deposits had been taken after the bankruptcy case was filed. According to the Trustee, the
Mint’s custom minting business, while creating quality and valued products, was unprofitable,
lacked necessary financial oversight tools, and was saddled with extremely poor management
practices. Trustee’s Report, Dkt. No. 1229 at 1-2. The Mint had not prepared financial
statements or tax returns for at least five years and had not instituted inventory controls for
precious metals. No physical inventory of precious metals had been conducted to the knowledge
of any of the company’s employees, there was no cost accounting to determine the profitability
of divisions of the company or the profitability of individual orders, and the business and

financial records of the Mint were disorganized. Dkt. No. 1229 at 3-4.

2 This docket entry is a memorandum decision of the Court. The parties filed appeals and cross-appeals, and
ultimately a portion of the Court’s ruling was reversed. See Dkt. 1051. None of the factual findings from that
decision cited here were disturbed on appeal.
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The Trustee estimated that at the time of filing more than $13.8 million in precious metal
inventory was missing. Dkt. No. 1229 at 4. Of the remaining precious metals in his possession,
the Trustee was able to identify approximately $900,000 of specific items belonging to certain
customers and, after providing proof of ownership, the Court authorized the return of those
items. Id. More than three thousand creditors filed proofs of claim exceeding $83 million. Id. at
2. Many of these creditors asserted claims based on monies deposited for precious metals or
custom minted items that would be entitled to priority up to $2,850 per claim under 11 U.S.C.
§507(a)(7). The Trustee estimated the capped priority claims totaled approximately $10 million.
Dkt. No. 369 at 5.

Upon his appointment, the Trustee ceased the bullion sales, consolidated the
manufacturing operations, and focused on growing sales of minted items. Dkt. No. 1229 at 8-9.
The Trustee decided that he would operate the business to profitability to allow an independent
reorganization, a reorganization backed by an investor, or a going-concern sale of the company
on terms that would provide a return to creditors. Id. at 14.

C. The Trustee and Committee Employ Professionals.

The Trustee sought and obtained permission to employ K&L Gates LLP (“Trustee
Counsel”) as his general counsel. Dkt. Nos. 60 and 255. The Trustee also requested permission
and to employ his own firm, Cascade Capital Group, LLC (“Cascade”) as accountants for the
Trustee. Dkt. No. 61. In support of Cascade’s employment, the Trustee declared it was
necessary to hire an accountant to provide financial accounting services for the estate and that it
may be necessary to conduct forensic accounting services related to his investigation of certain
transactions engaged in by the Mint. Dkt. No. 62 at 1-2.

At the initial hearing on the Cascade employment application, the Court expressed
concern with the inherent conflict of the Trustee reviewing and approving the fees and expenses
of his own firm. Dkt. No. 398 at 42—44. In a supplemental declaration, the Trustee promised
Cascade would bill its time only for work as his accountants and he would not bill trustee
services through Cascade. Dkt. No. 375 at 4. Based on these representations, the Court entered
a final order authorizing the Trustee to employ Cascade as his accountants nunc pro tunc to April
11. Dkt. No. 387.

The Committee obtained permission to employ Miller Nash Graham & Dunn LLP

(“Committee Counsel”) as its general counsel. Dkt. No. 424. A little over a year into the case,

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE, CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L GATES, AND
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Case 16-11767-CMA Doc 2118 Filed 10/11/19 Ent. 10/11/19 15:32:21 Pg. 4 of 85



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Below is the Order of the Court.

the Committee also sought to engage Lorraine Barrick as a financial advisor to analyze the
Trustee’s financial reports, evaluate any operating projections presented by the Trustee in
support of a plan of reorganization, and review and analyze estate business operations, financial
matters, and strategies for reorganization as the Committee may request. Dkt. No. 962. The
Court approved her employment on April 25, 2017. Dkt. No. 992.

D. The Interim Payment Order Excludes the Trustee.

The Trustee sought an order establishing procedures for interim payment of fees and
reimbursement of expenses incurred by the Trustee and the other professionals. He proposed
reimbursement of all expenses and payment of 80 percent of the fees incurred every month rather
than apply for compensation every 120 days. The Trustee explained that he and the
professionals would devote substantial amounts of time and energy to this case and incur
substantial fees and costs, and if required to wait 120 days per 11 U.S.C. § 331 for payment they
would suffer undue hardship. Dkt. No. 101 at 2—4. At the hearing conducted on June 2, 2016,
the Court authorized the procedures for the professionals but informed the Trustee and Trustee
Counsel that it would not approve interim payments to the Trustee because his compensation was
limited by 11 U.S.C. § 326. Consequently, the Trustee was not included in the order entered by
the Court. Dkt. No. 394.

In late 2016, the Trustee informed the Committee that he intended to make an interim
payment to the professionals. Dkt. No. 2035-2 at 17. According to the meeting minutes,
Committee members expressed concern about the proposed payment and questioned the Trustee
about the potentially adverse effect the payment would have on the cash position and reserves of
the Debtor. The Trustee asserted that the payment would not adversely affect the Mint’s
business operations. Based on this representation, the Committee members present withdrew
their objection. Id.

The Trustee made an interim distribution under the Court-approved procedures to the
professionals in December 2016: $232,671.12 to Trustee Counsel, $56,990.18 to Committee
Counsel, and $110,338.70 to Cascade. Dkt. No. 893 at 36. Unfortunately, the Mint soon
suffered cash flow issues. According to the monthly operating report, Cascade returned $50,000
to the estate on March 21, 2017 “to help fund working capital needs” of the company. Dkt. No.
985 at 48. Cascade returned an additional $50,000 on August 7, 2017. Dkt. No. 1982-11 at 2.

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE, CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L GATES, AND
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Other than this one interim payment in December 2016, the professionals have received no
compensation or reimbursements during this case.
E. The Trustee Sells the Texas Business and Makes Inconsistent Representations.

A division of the Mint operated in Tomball, Texas. Due to the Mint’s poor cash flow, the
Trustee determined very early in the case to sell the assets of this division and use the funds to
preserve other aspects of the Mint’s business. He sought approval of a sale to an entity formed
by two individuals, one of whom indirectly owned the building that housed the Tomball
operations. Dkt. Nos. 200, 201, and 202. Another entity, Ira Green, Inc., offered to bid more for
the assets, so the Trustee conducted an auction. Medallic Art Company, LLC (“Medallic”), an
entity controlled by Ross Hansen, filed an objection to the sale motion, asserting the Tomball
assets may include property owned by Medallic rather than the Mint. At the initial sale hearing
on May 26, 2016, Ross Hansen also sought to participate in auction. The Trustee insisted that
Ross Hansen provide a deposit and proof of available funds before he be allowed to bid, and the
Court agreed. After taking testimony and conducting several hearings, the Court overruled
Medallic’s objections and approved a sale of the assets to Ira Green, Inc., for approximately $1
million. Dkt. No. 369 at 3.

In connection with the sale of the Tomball business assets, the Trustee sought approval of]
a $25,000 break-up fee to the initial bidder. The Court did not approve the break-up fee at the
sale hearing but stated it would consider the request at a later hearing. Dkt. No. 370.
Subsequently, the initial bidder submitted a declaration and a memorandum asserting it was
entitled to a break-up fee that exceeded $58,000. Dkt. Nos. 479 and 480. The Trustee
strenuously objected, asserting the bidder was “disgruntled” and that the request was “especially
absurd” because the bidder only incurred out-of-pocket expenses of approximately $6,000 in
connection with its stalking-horse bid. Dkt. No. 488 at 4. The Trustee conceded that he still
supported a $25,000 break-up fee because he promised the bidder he would do so, but he
expressed displeasure at the amount of the request and exclaimed, “Hell hath no fury like a
bidder scorned.” Id. at 3. In reply, the bidder submitted an email from the Trustee (with a copy
to his counsel) showing the Trustee actually invited the bidder to file the larger request for a
break-up fee:

You need to have your attorney file for the 56k with the affidavit from
Larry we discussed.
Then I will follow up with a supporting motion for 30k...

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE, CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L GATES, AND
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The hearing is scheduled for July 8th...

So... get it filed and we will push forward.

Thanks

Mark

PS please pass this to your attorney to confirm he is going to file the
motion...

Thanks

Dkt. No. 495-2 at 2 (ellipses in the original).

At the hearing, the Court informed the parties that it was troubled by the apparent
inconsistency between the Trustee’s email and his indignant response. Dkt. No. 594 at 51. The
Court set the break-up fee and other related matters for an evidentiary hearing and required the
Trustee to provide the Court all of his emails with the bidder. Id. at 53-56.

In lieu of the evidentiary hearing, the Trustee sought approval of a compromise with the
bidder and the Tomball landlord. Dkt. No. 799. The Court refused to approve the settlement
because the Trustee’s motion did not fairly or accurately portray the consideration exchanged.
Dkt. No. 839 at 19-25. The Court viewed the settlement motion as a thinly-veiled attempt by the
Trustee to deliver the break-up fee he had promised. Id. The Court expressed displeasure with
the Trustee’s conduct on this matter.

To address the Court’s concern with his conduct, the Trustee stated in a declaration that
he “never encouraged Mr. Tucker to file a ‘phony’ claim that had never been asserted by
Tucker/Cook before.” Dkt. No. 1921 at 7. He explains his email as follows: “My June 20, 2016
email suggests that the parties could reach a compromise at $30,000 in the event that [the bidder]
provided documentation substantiating a demand for $56,000...However, the potential
compromise that [ alluded to in my June 20 email was ultimately not reached before the July 8,
hearing on the break-up fee.” Id. at 7-8. The Court rejects this explanation, as the email speaks
for itself. In this case, the Trustee negotiated many compromises and sought approval of them
through his counsel. The June 20 email plainly is not an offer to compromise but a plan to
secure the Court’s approval of a break-up fee. The claim from the bidder may not have been
phony, but the Trustee’s opposition was.

The Trustee also sought permission to pay the accrued vacation compensation of about
36 terminated employees at the Texas facility. Dkt. No. 556. At a hearing on August 19, 2016,
the Court asked Trustee Counsel if this case was administratively solvent, and he said yes. The
Court pressed Trustee Counsel on this issue, noting there were already over $1 million in

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE, CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L GATES, AND
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professional fees. Trustee Counsel assured the Court the estate was still administratively solvent
because there were substantial liquid assets. Trustee Counsel also acknowledged the Trustee had
terminated approximately 44 employees at other facilities with accrued vacation compensation,
but he was not seeking permission to pay any priority wages to these employees at the same
time. The Court denied the request because it would result in disparate treatment of similarly-
situated creditors. The Court expressed concern that the motion was premature because the
former Texas employees might receive payment, but future administrative insolvency would
preclude payments to other former employees.

F. The Trustee Litigates Over a Pre-Petition Fee Deposit.

Just a few days before the commencement of this case, the security cameras at the Mint
recorded Ross Hansen, Diane Erdmann, and two others filling and removing boxes from the
Mint. Ross Hansen and Diane Erdmann claimed they were taking personal items and moving
valuable assets of the Mint to another facility to thwart collection efforts by Cohen. Dkt. No.
580 at 4.

When the Mint decided to seek protection under the Bankruptcy Code, it hired The Tracy
Law Group, PLLC (“Tracy”) to prepare a bankruptcy petition. Tracy requested an advance fee
deposit of $150,000 and insisted that it be paid by a third party. Diane Erdmann paid the deposit
using $50,000 transferred from her checking account and $99,460 received from the sale of gold
coins. Tracy drew down $21,885.50 for pre-petition services and paid $1,717.00 for the chapter
11 filing fee, leaving approximately $125,857 in its trust account.

The Trustee asserted the remaining deposit funds constituted property of the Mint estate
because the source of the funds was precious metals and cash Diane Erdmann stole from the
Mint. The Court conducted an evidentiary hearing and found, among other things, that Diane
Erdmann 1) was the “gatekeeper” of the bullion and the cash at the Mint, 2) did not keep
adequate inventory records, and 3) removed items from the Mint’s vault and then provided
nearly $150,000 to Tracy. The Trustee, however, could not prove either the $50,000 or the
specific gold coins sold to generate the balance of the deposit funds were stolen from the Mint.
Dkt. No. 580 at 6. The Court did agree with the Trustee’s alternative argument that the Funds
constituted an advance fee deposit in which the Mint possessed at least a beneficial interest that

brought the Funds into the estate.
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On appeal, the District Court affirmed the conclusion that deposited funds belonged to
Diane Erdmann. Dkt. No. 1051 at 3. The District Court reversed the ruling that the funds were
part of the estate, concluding the Mint had no interest in the funds before filing for bankruptcy
and no interest could spring from the filing. 1d. at 5-6.

G. The Trustee Engages in Extensive Litigation to Acquire the Dayton Lease.

Very early in the case, the Trustee determined the Dayton facility was critical to the
Debtor’s business and would be the focus of a chapter 11 plan. Dkt. No. 1185 at 2. But the
Trustee had to overcome a significant hurdle to assuming the lease for the Dayton Premises: The
Mint was not the tenant under the written agreement with the owners, Connie and Robert Hoff.
The following discussion highlights the substantial risk and litigation costs facing the Trustee to
acquire the lessee’s rights under the lease.

1. Creation of the L.ease. The Hoffs operated a minting business known as

“Medallic Arts.” In 2009, Ross Hansen entered into an agreement to purchase this business from
the Hoffs. As part of the sale, he and the Hoffs entered into a lease for the Dayton Premises (the
“Dayton Lease”). The same day the parties executed the Dayton Lease they also signed a written|
amendment that acknowledged Ross Hansen was assigning his interests to a Nevada entity he
controlled, Medallic Art Limited Partnership (“MALP”). At some point after the execution of
the assignment of the Dayton Lease, the State of Nevada permanently revoked the corporate
status of MALP. Consequently, there was uncertainty as to who held the rights and obligations
of the lessee under the Dayton Lease.

The Mint always operated at the Dayton Premises and paid rent due under the Dayton
Lease directly to the Hoffs. But at the outset of this case, Ross Hansen asserted that either he or
his company, Medallic, was the tenant under the Dayton Lease and the Mint was a mere sub-
lessee. Dkt. No. 1185 at 2—4. The Trustee and his counsel acknowledged early in the case that it
was going to be expensive, risky, and time consuming to resolve this “gooey mess.” Id. at 4.

2. The Medallic Litigation. In early August 2016, Medallic commenced an

adversary proceeding against the Trustee seeking, among many other things, a declaratory
judgment that it held the rights as the tenant under the Dayton Lease, it owned the personal
property used by the Mint, and the Mint owed Medallic a substantial amount of rent for the use
of the property. The Trustee answered by denying the allegations and asserting counterclaims

that included an action for substantive consolidation of Medallic with the estate of the Mint. The
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parties vigorously litigated various issues, including the Trustee’s motion for partial summary
judgment on ownership of the Dayton Lease (which the Court denied), and engaged in extensive
discovery.

In April 2017, with trial just a few weeks away, Medallic moved to voluntarily dismiss its
claims. On April 19, the Court granted the motion and dismissed Medallic’s claims and
affirmative defenses with prejudice. The Court subsequently entered a judgment that
substantively consolidated Medallic, including its assets and liabilities, with the chapter 11 estate
of the Mint. Therefore, it no longer mattered whether Medallic or the Mint was the tenant under
the Dayton Lease; if Medallic held the tenant’s rights, the Trustee controlled those rights. Id.

H. The Bressler Settlement Leads to Issues with Committee Members.

The Trustee attempted to obtain approval of a settlement with a business associate of
Ross Hansen. Unfortunately, a member of the Committee prematurely revealed these efforts to
Ross Hansen. This improper disclosure led the Trustee, Trustee Counsel, and Committee
Counsel to several regrettable acts of their own.

1. The Settlement Agreement. Richard Bressler was a passive investor in Medallic.

Ross Hansen controlled the entity and owned (either directly or beneficially) half of the interests
in the company, and Mr. Bressler owned the other half of the interests. Dkt. No. 970. Early in
the Medallic litigation, Mr. Bressler testified in support of Medallic in opposition to the Trustee’s
efforts to gain control of the Dayton Lease. Adv. Pro. No.16-01196-CMA, Dkt. No. 28. A few
weeks before Medallic capitulated, the Trustee filed a motion for approval of a settlement
agreement with Mr. Bressler. Dkt. No. 970. Under the settlement, Mr. Bressler agreed to not
oppose the Trustee’s efforts in the Medallic litigation. Mr. Bressler also agreed that if he
obtained management control over the entity, he would cause Medallic to stipulate to substantive
consolidation or an alter ego determination. In return, if the Court ruled in the Trustee’s favor on
the substantive consolidation or the alter ego issues, then Mr. Bressler would receive a $3 million|
general unsecured claim.

The Court denied the request for several reasons: 1) there was no dispute between the
estate and Mr. Bressler to compromise; 2) since Mr. Bressler was not a party, he had no standing
to oppose any relief sought by the Trustee in the lawsuit; 3) the agreement incentivized Mr.
Bressler to testify to facts favorable to the Trustee after initially testifying for Medallic; and 4)

since Medallic had already conceded, there was no need for any cooperation from Mr. Bressler.
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Dkt. No. 1134 at 4-6, 10-12, 18-19, and 21-22.

2. Committee Member’s Unauthorized Disclosure. The Bressler settlement became

the subject of considerable controversy. On March 13, 2017, Committee Counsel advised the
Committee that the Trustee had reached an agreement with Mr. Bressler. Dkt. No. 1979 at 7.
The very same afternoon, Committee member William Hanson sent two emails to Committee
Counsel. The first email states that he is sending a separate letter expressing the Committee’s
dissatisfaction with the Trustee that he wants delivered to the Court. Dkt. No 1979 at Ex. F. The
second email is the letter for the Court that is highly critical of the Trustee, Trustee Counsel, and
Committee Counsel. William Hanson states in that email that Mr. Calvert must be replaced as
the Trustee and that “our dissatisfaction needs to be formally registered and put on the record.”
Id. at Ex. H.

Committee Counsel did not file the communication with the Court, but instead forwarded
it to Trustee Counsel.’ 1d. In an email sent the next day, Trustee Counsel informed Committee
Counsel that someone had told Ross Hansen about the agreement between the Trustee and Mr.
Bressler. Id. at Ex. I. Later that day, Committee Counsel reported to Trustee Counsel that
William Hanson confessed in a phone call that he had accidentally disclosed the existence of the
Bressler agreement to Ross Hansen and that he intended to resign. Dkt. No. 2035-5 at 15.

3. Trustee Counsel’s Communications with Committee Members. On March 21,

Trustee Counsel sent an email to all members of the Committee.* In it, he charged that some
members of the committee had collaborated with Ross Hansen “in adversity to the interests of
the bankruptcy estate.” Dkt. No. 1979 at Ex. L. He demanded each Committee member
immediately produce all their communications with Ross Hansen or his representatives. 1d.

On March 21, William Hanson replied to Trustee Counsel’s email, confessing that he had
accidentally disclosed the existence of the Bressler settlement to Ross Hansen. He

acknowledged it was a serious mistake, stated he would resign from the Committee, and did so

3A Committee Counsel attorney later explained in a declaration why he decided not to file the letter to the Court:
“Through March 2017 the Chapter 11 ride with the Trustee was sometimes certainly rough and subject to fair
criticism but throwing the pilot out of the plane in mid-flight was neither warranted nor a prudent option....” Dkt.
No. 1979 at 9-10.

4 The email stated he was contacting them in their individual capacity and not as members of the Committee. While
Washington Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit attorneys from communicating with parties who are represented
by counsel (see WA RPC 4.2), Committee Counsel did not represent the individual Committee members, who have
separate interests as creditors in the case. While it would have been prudent for Trustee Counsel to have Committee
Counsel conduct the investigation, Trustee Counsel arguably did not need permission from Committee Counsel to
communicate with the individual members.

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE, CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L GATES, AND
MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN-11

Case 16-11767-CMA Doc 2118 Filed 10/11/19 Ent. 10/11/19 15:32:21 Pg. 11 of 8

OT




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Below is the Order of the Court.

the next day. Dkt. No. 1979 at Ex. M and Ex. N. The Trustee and Trustee Counsel still insisted
that other Committee members produce their communications with Ross Hansen. On March 27,
2017, Committee members Paula and Richard Pehl sent Committee Counsel a zip file containing
their communications with Ross Hansen. Dkt. 1999-6 at 1-2. Two days later, Committee
Counsel forwarded these documents to Trustee Counsel. Dkt. No. 2035 at Ex. C.

4, Exclusion of Committee Members. On March 17, Committee Counsel sent an

email to the Trustee and Trustee Counsel asking them to consider action to have the Pehls
removed from the Committee “based on their collusion with Ross and Bill Hanson...” Dkt. No.
2035 at Ex. D.

A few weeks later, Committee Counsel reversed his position in an email to Trustee
Counsel stating he no longer thought that Ms. Pehl was doing anything to advance Ross
Hansen’s agenda. Dkt. No. 2035 at Ex. D. He noted that while she still was not “a fan” of the
Trustee, she needed to be included in current events, including a call between the Committee and
the Trustee scheduled for the next day. Id.

On April 6, 2017, the Committee conducted a telephonic meeting with the Trustee,
Trustee Counsel, and two other company officers. According to the minutes of the meeting, the
Pehls left the call shortly after it began at the request of the Trustee. The Trustee’s position was
that the Pehls had not yet submitted disclosures of their contacts with Ross Hansen and so they
should not be allowed to participate in the Committee meeting. Dkt. No.2035 at Ex. B, part 2.

On May 10, 2017, Trustee Counsel sent an email to the Pehls (with a copy to Committee
Counsel) alleging that they had not complied with the Trustee’s request that they fully disclose
their communications with Ross Hansen. Dkt. No. 1999-10 at 1. The Court asked Trustee
Counsel to explain why he made those inaccurate assertions to unrepresented individuals. In a
subsequent declaration he explained that he had forgotten that Committee Counsel provided him
the documents in late March. Dkt. No. 2036 at 3—4.

I The Trustee and Trustee Counsel Repeatedly Assure the Court the Estate is Solvent,
and the Case is Proceeding to a Successful Conclusion.

During and after the Medallic Litigation and the Bressler Settlement, the Trustee filed
several motions. In connection with these motions, the Trustee and Trustee Counsel represented
to the Court that the case was on a successful track and, notwithstanding the accumulating

professional fees, the estate continued to be administratively solvent.
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At the end of 2016, the Trustee filed a motion for authority to hire Bill Attalla as CEO
and pay him an annual salary of $300,000 and other benefits. Dkt. No. 857. At the hearing on
February 3, 2017, the Court expressed concern about the sizable administrative expenses in the
case and inquired about the financial condition of the estate. Trustee Counsel assured the Court
that even if the Trustee lost the litigation with Medallic over the Dayton Lease and even if it had
to liquidate all assets, he believed the estate was administratively solvent. Dkt. No. 915 at 5-6.
Based in part on these representations, the Court authorized the employment. Id. and Dkt. No.
897.

In May 2017, the Trustee filed a motion for approval of post-petition financing by
factoring company receivables. In support of the Motion, the Trustee declared that “revenue
streams have not been fully developed” and that consequently the Mint “continues to experience
a tight cash flow.” Dkt. 1035 at 2. The Trustee stated he remained convinced in the long-term
viability and profitability of the Mint’s business, and an infusion of cash would afford the new
CEO and sales team a chance to grow sales. Id.

In a response, the Committee supported the motion but also informed the Court that the
Mint experienced a significant and expected operating loss in April. Dkt. No. 1049 at 1-2. At
the hearing on June 2, 2017, Trustee Counsel confirmed that the company experienced a
downturn in April and therefore had initiated a marketing effort to sell the Mint. The Trustee
and Trustee Counsel still expressed optimism that in six months the Trustee would either sell the
business or put forth a plan with an infusion of equity that would generate a distribution to
unsecured creditors in the range of 50 percent to 75 percent. The Court granted the motion,
entered an interim order, and then entered a final order several weeks later. Dkt. Nos. 1062 and
1109.

While the Trustee represented at the financing motion hearing that he might propose a
reorganization plan, he later revealed to the Court that he had already given up on that option. In
a declaration filed in January 2019, the Trustee explained that after the business suffered the
large and unanticipated loss in April 2017, he communicated to the Committee that a
reorganization plan was not feasible, and he focused on a sale of the company as a going
concern. Dkt. No. 1982 at 4-5.

The Trustee declares that he actively marketed the company for sale during the spring,

summer, and fall of 2017. Id. He claims that he received expressions of interest from “multiple

ORDER ON FEE APPLICATIONS OF TRUSTEE, CASCADE CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, K&L GATES, AND
MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN-13

Case 16-11767-CMA Doc 2118 Filed 10/11/19 Ent. 10/11/19 15:32:21 Pg. 13 of 8

OT



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Below is the Order of the Court.

parties” for a purchase of the company in the range of $3 to $10 million dollars. Id. He does not
state, however, how many expressions of interest materialized, nor does he state how many of
these expressions developed into offers. The Court later learned the Trustee did receive an offer
in late July for substantially all estate assets—for only $2 million. Dkt. No. 2035-3 at 13—19.

J. In Litigation with the Dayton Lease Landlord, the Trustee Changes his Position on
the Necessity of the Dayton Lease.

After succeeding in the litigation against Medallic, the Trustee turned his attention to
assuming the Dayton Lease. The Trustee filed an assumption motion in October 2016, which
was continued to May 2017 to coincide with the expected conclusion of the Medallic litigation.
In his 2016 declaration supporting assumption, the Trustee stated he had reached an
understanding with the Hoffs on the maintenance, repairs, and improvements that that the estate
would undertake to cure all defaults. But when the Court heard the assumption motion in 2017,
the Hoffs claimed they had agreed to assumption of the Dayton Lease if the Trustee performed
certain repairs, but never agreed those certain repairs constituted all the defaults that existed in
late September 2016. In short, the Trustee failed to memorialize the agreement that he believed
had been struck.

Consequently, when it came time to assume the Dayton Lease, the Trustee had to litigate
with the Hoffs over the defaults requiring cure. Dkt. No. 1185 at 7-11. Based on the Trustee’s
representation that the estate could promptly cure the defaults determined after a hearing, the
Court authorized the Trustee to assume the Dayton Lease and set an evidentiary hearing. 1d.

After several days of testimony, evidence, and argument, the Court issued a written ruling
in September 2017. Dkt. No. 1185. The salient findings include the following:

1. In his opening statement at hearing, Trustee Counsel declared they would
demonstrate that in the summer of 2016 the Trustee sought to establish with the Hoffs a
definitive amount for repairs and maintenance because he was deciding whether to stay or move
to new space. Trustee Counsel asserted the Dayton Lease was “bad” and the Trustee needed far
less space for the Nevada operations. The Trustee, according to his counsel, strongly considered
moving out, and stayed only because he believed he had an assurance from the Hoffs that he
needed to spend only about $120,000 to cure all defaults. Id. at 7-11.

2. Trustee Counsel presented evidence to support this estoppel argument. An expert
testified there was a significant vacancy rate in the local market in the Summer of 2016 and the

Trustee could have substantially reduced his leasing costs had he moved. The Trustee then
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testified that he had identified a new location where he could have moved the Dayton operations
and reduce the rental expense by $25,000 per month. He then stated if he had moved the estate
would have saved $900,000 in rental costs over the remaining term of the Dayton Lease,
$120,000 in repair and maintenance costs he negotiated, and $40,000 he spent to clean up
solvents. The Trustee estimated that the costs to move plus the loss in revenue from the move
would total $750,000. He testified that he sought “a total number” from the Hoffs in August
2016 because he needed the amount for his “move versus stay analysis.” Dkt. No. 1185 at 14.

3. The Court noted the significant costs to stay the Trustee identified and asked the
Trustee how much he had budgeted for legal fees to resolve the dispute with Medallic and Ross
Hansen over the Dayton Lease. In response, the Trustee dramatically changed positions and
testified he did not estimate those costs because he lacked the funds to move. The Trustee then
proceeded to completely change his testimony to state that when he was seeking a total cure
amount from the Hoffs in August 2016, he was not conducting a “move versus stay analysis” but
instead was deciding whether to assume the Dayton Lease or shut the company down.

In sum, after testifying that he had identified a better location that would save the estate
substantial amounts and that he needed a final cure number from the Hoffs to decide whether to
stay or move, the Trustee then revised his testimony by claiming he possessed no ability to move
the operations. The Court made additional findings on the Trustee’s shifting statements on this
crucial issue. Dkt. No. 1185 at 13—15.

In connection with the pending Application, the Court afforded the Trustee an
opportunity to further explain this shift in position. In a supplemental declaration, he swore the
Dayton Lease was necessary because the estate lacked the working capital to move. Dkt. No.
1982 at 8. This testimony is directly contrary to his testimony on the stand that he was seeking a
cure cost figure from the Hoffs to decide whether to stay or move to a new location he identified.
This declaration only compounds the Trustee’s problems, as it confirms that he was not telling
the truth either when he testified that he identified a better space and engaged in a “move versus
stay analysis” or when he testified that he had no ability to move operations.

K. Concerned with the Costs of Administration, the Court Orders the Professionals to
file Fee Applications.

As the case went on, the Court grew concerned that no plan had been filed and the
administrative expenses continued to mount. According to the July 2017 monthly financial

report, the Trustee estimated that the estate had accumulated professional fees exceeding $4.13
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million. Dkt. No. 1163 at 45. Even though the case was nearly eighteen months old, the Trustee
and the other professionals had not submitted any applications for the allowance of
compensation or reimbursement of expenses that would disclose how they were spending their
time. The Court thus ordered the Trustee and the professionals to file fee applications and note
them for hearing in early October.

The Trustee, Trustee Counsel, Cascade, and Committee Counsel each filed an interim
application for payment of fees and reimbursement of expenses and a supporting declaration.
The Committee, through Committee Counsel, raised several general and specific objections to
the applications filed by the Trustee, Trustee Counsel, and Cascade, including the following
issues:

1. The Trustee and Cascade spent significant time under “Plan of Reorganization &
Disclosure Statement” yet never filed a plan or disclosure statement;

2. The Trustee improperly included in the Cascade application time for “traditional trustee
duties” that did not involve professional accounting services;

3. A substantial amount of time in the Cascade and Trustee applications for “Investigation —
Fraud” appeared to be spent assisting the FBI pursue a criminal investigation and not
providing a benefit to the estate; and

4. The Trustee failed to engage in a cost/benefit analysis before engaging in expensive
litigation against Ross Hansen and Diane Erdmann that, to date, had not generated a
return for the estate.

Dkt. No. 1224.

In their applications, the Trustee and the professionals made clear that they were only
complying with the Court’s instruction and did not want the Court to rule on these initial
applications. The Trustee explained it was premature to determine to what extent the estate
would succeed in realizing on the enterprise value of the company, and he anticipated requesting
approval of his fees and costs when the value of the business could be determined. Dkt. No.
1201 at 2. Committee Counsel also noted a far more practical reason: the estate lacked the cash
assets to pay any fee awards, even if approved, and it was unclear when and whether any funds
would ever become available. Dkt. No. 1224 at 2.

On October 6, 2017, the Court conducted a hearing on the initial fee applications. While

the Court acceded to their requests to defer ruling on the allowance or disallowance of
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compensation and reimbursement, it informed them that it had many issues with the applications.
The Court reiterated the objections raised by the Committee and expressed the following
additional concerns:
1. The Trustee had reimbursed his own expenses without obtaining Court permission;
2. Many of the time entries on Cascade’s application did not reflect accounting services;
3. The Trustee’s reimbursed expenses included payment to a law firm that had not been
approved by the Court;
4. Significant fees and costs had been devoted to litigation with questionable value to the
estate.
5. The Trustee misled the Court with his vociferous objection to the initial bidder’s break-
up fee request after telling the bidder to file the request.
The Trustee and the professionals did not submit any other requests for compensation or
reimbursement until they filed the pending Applications over a year later.

L. The Trustee Files a Status Report that Contradicts Trustee Counsel’s Prior
Representation on the Estate’s Solvency yet Expresses Optimism for a Distribution
to Unsecured Creditors.

Along with his reply in support of the Court-ordered fee application, the Trustee filed a
Report of Investigation and Status Report dated October 3, 2017 (the “Status Report™) (Dkt. No.
1229). The Trustee appended to this Status Report a separate analysis that he prepared in which
he concluded the estate had been administratively insolvent on a liquidation basis from the
outset:

The liquidation value of the assets of the company at the time of the Trustee’s
appointment was of de minimus value to creditors and there were large
administrative claims that would have arisen in liquidation that would have
consumed what value there was....if the Trustee had elected to close the business
and liquidate the Company’s assets in August 2016, there would have been no
return to general unsecured creditors. Only administrative creditors, principally
administrative winddown expenses of employees, landlords and professionals
would have received any distribution from the estate and those administrative
creditors would not have been paid in full.

Dkt. No. 1229 at 10 [emphasis added].
This liquidation analysis estimated that as of September 1, 2017, the estate was facing
$2,866,043 in post-petition payables, which included approximately $1,000,000 in WARN Act

claims based on an abrupt closing of operations, and $2,705,606 in professional fees. Dkt. No.
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1229 at 32-33. The Trustee asserted that a liquidation of the estate assets would only yield
$4,272,193. Id. Thus, in contrast to Trustee Counsel’s assertion in February 2017, the Trustee’s
expert opinion was that the estate had been administratively insolvent on a liquidation basis since
the beginning of the case.

Despite the poor sales and cash flow issues, the Trustee continued to express confidence
that he could generate a return for creditors. In the Status Report, he assigned an enterprise value
of $14,000,000 to the estate’s business as a going concern. Id. at 10—11. The Trustee opined
that in the next three years the business was expected to generate positive cash flow of
approximately $4 million for a total estate value of approximately $18 million. 1d. He
anticipated a sale of the Mint as a going concern or a reorganization of the Mint that would
eventually provide distributions to creditors. Id. The Trustee reported eight parties expressed
interest and signed confidentiality agreements to obtain more detailed information and tour the
operations. Dkt No. 1229 at 13. He represented that as of October 2017 two parties had
expressed interest in the company, and discussions centered on a purchase price of $4 million -
$5 million for 50 percent of the Mint with the balance held by a liquidating trust for the benefit
of creditors. Id.

Trustee Counsel discussed the Trustee’s Status Report at a hearing on professional fee
applications on October 6, 2017. At the hearing, Trustee Counsel continued the refrain that
success was near and that the Trustee expected to confirm a plan in the first half of 2018.

M. The Trustee Abruptly Shuts the Company Down.

Two weeks after filing the Status Report, the Trustee filed a monthly operating report that
painted a less rosy picture. He warned that if the tight cash flow issues could not be resolved, he
would need to close the business and liquidate the assets on terms that will provide very little
return to creditors. Dkt. No. 1287 at 47. In the operating report filed the following month, the
Trustee declared that in October he received an executed asset purchase and sale agreement to
acquire the business. Dkt. No. 1309 at 47. The offer was for $10 million from Gary
Anderson/Eureka House of Metals. Dkt. No. 2035-3 at 21-22. The Trustee stated that he
anticipated obtaining confirmation of the buyer’s source of funds before the end of November,
filing a sale motion, and closing the sale before the end of the year. Dkt. No. 1309 at 47.

In his subsequent monthly operating report, the Trustee explained he was still attempting

to verify the source of funding for this offer but had not been able to do so as of December 18,
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2017. Apparently, Mr. Anderson established a “Go Fund Me” page on December 17 to raise the
$500,000 down payment. Dkt. No. 1616-10. In an email to the Hoffs dated December 27, 2017,
the Trustee acknowledged that he had been waiting for seven weeks for the buyer to fund the
purchase price. Dkt. No. 1330 at 64. He informed the Hoffs that he was forced to close to shut
down the business and terminate virtually all employees. 1d. The abrupt closure resulted in a
class-action WARN Act claim exceeding $700,000. Dkt. No.1389.

After the business shut down, Mr. Atalla surmised in an email to the Trustee that the
Dayton Lease actually hampered the reorganization efforts: “I will say that one of the biggest
reasons for investors turning away was the weight of the oversized building and its monthly
lease/tax costs.” Dkt. No. 2083 at 25.

N. The Trustee Makes Several Missteps in His Efforts to Liquidate Assets.

After shutting down the business, the Trustee began the liquidation of estate assets.
Unfortunately, the Trustee’s attempt to sell some of these assets proved highly problematic.
Several problems were of the Trustee’s own making.

1. First Attempt to Sell Customer Dies. One aspect of the Mint’s business was to

create dies for customers to strike various items, including commemorative coins, medals, and
awards. The Mint’s customers ranged from individuals to large organizations like the Boy
Scouts of America and the United States Golf Association. See Dkt. Nos. 1369 and 1512. The
Mint retained possession of the dies so customers could re-order items over time.

In late January, the Trustee sought authority to sell the Mint’s equipment, dies, tooling,
archives, and inventory via a public auction conducted by a Court-approved auctioneer. Dkt. No.
1350. Several customers objected to the Trustee’s request to sell the dies. These customers
asserted, among other things, that the Trustee could not sell the dies because either the dies were
not property of the estate or the intellectual property rights associated with the dies could not be
transferred without the consent of the customer. See e.g., Dkt. Nos. 1369, 1371, and 1406. In
support of their position on ownership, some customers noted the Mint’s website (maintained by
the Trustee during the case) stated that “with hundreds of thousands of dies and a century of
safekeeping, there’s no one you can trust more than Medallic Art Company to protect your dies”
and promised the Mint will never dispose of its customer’s dies. Dkt. Nos.1412 at 4 and 1412-10
at Ex. G. In response, the Trustee pointed to a disclaimer (in very small print) on the web site

that warned, “NWTM/Medallic Art retains copyright rights to all artwork it creates, and also
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retains possession and ownership of all dies it creates for its customers.” Dkt. No. 1412-11.
Customers also raised the concern that an individual die sold via a public auction could end up in
the hands of someone who has no interest in or capability of fulfilling orders for new items,
requiring customers to pay for new dies.

2. Second Attempt to Sell Customer Dies. Recognizing the concerns posed by an

auction sale, the Trustee filed a new motion seeking approval to sell approximately 2,700 dies,
customer lists, certain other intellectual property, specific tools and equipment, and certain other
assets to Medalcraft, Mint, Inc. (“Medalcraft”), a company with a minting business, for
$700,000. Dkt. Nos. 1457 and 1460. Notably, Medalcraft acknowledged the die ownership
issue and pledged to use the customer dies to strike items only for and at the request of the
individual customer associated with each die. 1d.

Prior to the hearing on the proposed sale, the Trustee obtained Court approval of bidding
procedures. Dkt. No. 1471. These procedures provided, among other things, that if the Trustee
received a qualified alternative bid then he would conduct an auction that would conclude after
each bidder had the opportunity to submit another bid with full knowledge of the then-existing
highest bid. Dkt. No, 1471 at 4-5.

Yet after obtaining approval from the Court, the Trustee proceeded to violate his own
bidding procedures. Before the bid deadline, the Trustee received an offer from an individual,
Rodger May, for the assets sought by Medalcraft. The Trustee then conducted an auction for
those assets at his Counsel’s office on March 7. At the auction, Medalcraft bid $810,000, Mr.
May then bid $825,000, and Medalcraft declared it was done. After the parties left, the Trustee
later convinced Mr. May to increase his offer to $900,000. The Trustee then notified Medalcraft
that he was going forward with Mr. May’s $900,000 offer, and Medalcraft increased its offer to
$910,000. Without informing Mr. May of this new bid, the Trustee presented Medalcraft’s
$910,000 offer for Court approval on March 9.

At the hearing, counsel for Mr. May appeared and complained about the bidding process.
The Court expressed similar concerns and continued the hearing for a week. At the continued
hearing, the Trustee informed the Court that, even though he had allowed Mr. May to participate
in the auction, he had decided Mr. May was not qualified to purchase the assets and renewed his

request that the Court approve